FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/28/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/28/2023 3:13 PM

No. I02232-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 83693-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

APOLLONIA KWAN and WILLIAM KWAN, a married couple; JAS GROUP LLC, a Washington limited liability company; 8168 INVESTMENT LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and each of the foregoing derivatively on behalf of MOUNTLAKE VILLAGE LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and MOUNTLAKE 228 LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioners,

v.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners are Apollonia Kwan; JAS Group LLC; and 8168 Investment LLC and each of the foregoing derivatively on behalf of Mountlake Village LLC and Mountlake 228 LLC, ("Petitioners"). Petitioners here were Respondents before the Court of Appeals.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners request review of the Court of Appeals, Division I (the "Court") unpublished opinion, *Kwan v. Clark*, No. 83693-5-I, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 697 (Ct. App. Apr. 10, 2023), which remanded the trial court's entry of judgment on behalf of Petitioners to strike prejudgment interest and apportionment of receivership costs.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether review is appropriate where the decision to strike prejudgment interest is directly contrary to the Division I Court of Appeals decision in *Tolson v. Allstate Insurance Co.*,

108 Wn. App. 495, 32 P.3d 289 (2001), wherein the remedy for an ambiguity on the face of an Award is remand to the Arbitrator.

- B. Whether review is appropriate where the Court of Appeals remand' to the trial court to strike prejudgment interest rather than remanding to the Arbitrator to resolve an ambiguity on the face of an Award undermines Washington's strong public policy in favor of arbitration, as well as parties' decision to submit disputes to arbitration.
- C. Whether review is appropriate where the Court of Appeals interpretation of the provisions of RCW Ch. 7.60 in deciding to limit the trial court's authority to apportion receivership costs is an issue of substantial public interest, as such limitation is unsupported by law or statute and inappropriately circumscribes a receivership court's authority to manage a receivership.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners filed their complaint against Alan Clark and multiple of his entities on February 22, 2019 (the "Complaint").

CP 1-20. The Complaint alleged conversion, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duties, quiet title with respect to disputed ownership of real property, the need for accounting, and constructive trust, among other relief. *Id.* Broadly speaking, the Complaint alleged that Alan Clark fraudulently induced the Petitioners to invest millions of dollars with Alan Clark to acquire several commercial real estate projects, over which Alan Clark exercised control the invested funds, and then Alan Clark diverted a significant portion of the invested funds to benefit only himself.

On February 26, 2019, Petitioners filed a Motion for an Order to Show Cause why a General Receiver Should not be Appointed over Respondent Entities Greenspace, Inc. ("Greenspace") and Greenstreet LLC ("Greenstreet"). CP 21-31. The Petitioners asserted that Greenspace and Greenstreet held title to real property or interests in entities holding title to real properties derived from Petitioners' invested funds either directly or indirectly where their funds had been diverted, that

these properties or interests were in danger of being lost or materially dissipated, and that Alan Clark and/or his entities appeared to be insolvent as they were not generally paying debts as they came due, jeopardizing the assets. CP 63-65.

At the conclusion of an evidentiary hearing, the trial court ordered that all of the disputed entities, which are the Respondent Entities and the Petitioner entities, be placed into general receivership (the "Receivership Order"). CP 675-91. In the final order entered by the trial court following submissions from the parties, the trial court concluded that "plaintiffs showed a probable right to or interest in the properties that are the subject of this action" and that "such properties are in the possession or under the control of the defendants and are in danger of being lost or materially injured or impaired." CP 678. The trial court further held that "other available remedies are inadequate." CP 679.

On July 9, 2019, the Clark Appellants and Kyle Clark Parties (with the exception of ARCA) filed a Joint Notice for

Discretionary Review of the Receivership Order. On November 20, 2019, the Court of Appeals denied Respondents' Motion for Discretionary Review. *See* Ruling on Discretionary Review, *Kwan v. Clark*, No. 80219-4-I, Nov. 19, 2019, CP 778.

On October 5, 2020, days before the scheduled trial date of October 12, 2020, the parties, including ARCA LLC ("ARCA"), entered into an Arbitration Agreement, Stipulation and Order for Arbitration ("the Stipulation"). CP 839-844; CP 1008. The Stipulation and Agreement submitted all claims by and against all parties in the Receivership, including claims by and against the Alan Clark Respondents, Petitioners, and ARCA. ARCA, through the Alan Clark Respondents' counsel Tousley Brain, had submitted to the trial court's jurisdiction by filing proofs of claim in the receivership (CP 1613-22), and later agreed to these claims being part of the binding arbitration in the Stipulation. CP 840-841.

The parties engaged in pre-arbitration motions practice before the Arbitrator to clarify and narrow the scope of the

Arbitrator's authority over the litigation. CP 1017-36. Both the Clark Respondents and Petitioners obtained requested relief during this process, striking certain claims and counterclaims from the parties' submitted statements of claims. CP 1038-42.

Arbitration commenced on January 11, 2021 and finished on March 16, 2021. CP 935. There were, in total, 17 days of arbitration. Id. The Arbitrator heard testimony from fourteen different witnesses and reviewed hundreds of pages of documents. Id. The Arbitrator submitted his initial draft Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law to the parties on May 13, 2021. *Id.* The Arbitrator then entertained multiple rounds of objections and requests for clarification from Special Counsel for the Clark Respondent Entities, Clarks, and counsel for the Petitioners before finalizing and forwarding the 47-page Award directly to King County Superior Court Judge Samuel Chung on November 12, 2021. *Id.* The Award attached the Arbitrator's proposed form of judgment ("Proposed Judgment"), which was

incorporated into the Award by reference. See CP 985, ¶ 11; CP 994-1002.

On December 6, 2021, Petitioners filed a Motion to Confirm the Award with Judge Chung. CP 924-31. The Award and Arbitrator's Proposed Judgment were attached to the Declaration of Daniel T. Hagen filed alongside the Award. CP 939-1002. On December 13, 2021, Special Counsel for the Respondent Entities filed a Motion to Vacate the Arbitration Award. CP 1047-60. The Motion to Vacate argued that the Arbitrator made errors of law or otherwise exceeded his authority by ruling on claims by and against ARCA, piercing the corporate veil against the Clark Respondent Entities, and by making findings regarding responsibility for receivership fees and costs against the Clark and the Clark Respondent Entities. CP 1048. Special Counsel for Clark and the Clark Respondent Entities also filed an opposition to Petitioners' Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award on the same day. CP 1152-58.

Though Special Counsel for Clark and the Clark Respondent Entities challenged the worksheets incorporated into the Arbitrator's Award (and proposed judgment) as well as the apportionment of receivership fees and costs against Clark and the Clark Respondent Entities (see CP 1054-55; CP 1058-59), neither the Motion to Vacate, nor the Opposition to the Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award challenged the prejudgment interest awarded by the Arbitrator as reflected in the Proposed Judgment. See CP 995; Il. 13-20. On January 7, 2022, the trial court entered its orders denying Defendant Entities' Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award and granting Plaintiffs' Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award. CP 1368-71.

On February 17, 2022, Petitioners filed a notice of presentation of the proposed final judgment. CP 1465-66. The notice of presentation contained a redline of all adjustments and updates to the Arbitrator's Proposed Judgment. CP 1481-91. After Special Counsel for Clarks and the Clark Respondent Entities had been terminated by order of the trial court, the

present counsel for the Clarks filed objections to entry of the final judgment on February 22, 2022. CP 1492-1502. That submission included for the first time an objection to allocation of the costs of the receivership to themselves as well as to the prejudgment interest contained in the Judgment. CP 1496-97; 1499-1501. The trial court overruled the Respondents' objections and entered the final form of the Judgment. CP 1520-36.

Clark and the Clark Respondent Entities sought review before the Court of Appeals, Division I, of many, if not most of the orders entered by the trial court over the life of the case, but in their reply brief conceded most of their assignments of error prior to oral argument. The Court ultimately remanded to the trial court to remove prejudgment interest from the Judgment, as well as the court's apportionment of receivership costs against Clark and the Clark Respondent Entities. *See* Appx, at 1-9. Petitioners timely moved for reconsideration, which was denied on June 28, 2023. *See* Appx, at 10-11.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Appropriate Relief for the Court's Ruling Is Remand.

Petitioners presented the following evidence to confirm that the Arbitrator intended prejudgment interest to apply to Judgment 1 in the final judgment. First, in the text of the Award itself, the Arbitrator's only express mention of prejudgment interest was in several instances where he ruled that it would *not* apply. *See* CP 983-84. This and the fact that he did not expressly rule that prejudgment should not apply to Judgment 1 supports Petitioners' position that the Arbitrator intended prejudgment interest to apply except where expressly noted to the contrary. Otherwise, noting such exceptions would be a surplusage.

However, as pointed out in Petitioners' prior briefing, clear and explicit references to an entitlement to prejudgment interest on Judgment 1 are present in the Proposed Judgment, which was incorporated by reference into the Award. While the amount of awarded prejudgment interest was left blank, there can be little doubt the Arbitrator intended those blanks to be filled in.

Here too, having blank lines in the Proposed Judgment where the Arbitrator did not intend to award prejudgment interest would be illogical and surplusage. Indeed, there is no other explanation for the presence of blank lines for prejudgment interest (shown below) in the Proposed Judgment, which the Arbitrator himself approved.

```
12
     Prejudgment Interest on Judgment 1;
                                                            to KWAN through
13
                                                           to JAS through
14
                                          through judgment date;
                                                            to 8168 through
15
                                                                                         , 2021 to continue
16
     Total Judgment 1 (Princ + Prejudg, Int.): $
                                                            to KWAN through
17
                                          through judgment date;
                                                            to JAS through
                                                                                         2021 to continue
18
                                          through judgment date;
                                                           to 8168 through
19
                                          through judgment date
```

Excerpt from CP 995 (highlighting added).

The Court's conclusion and ruling that the Arbitrator did not award prejudgment interest disregards the incorporation by reference in the Award of the Proposed Judgment and further disregards the fact that there is neither an explicit provision in the body of the Award denying or granting prejudgment interest on Judgment 1. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the Arbitrator intended zero prejudgment interest could only be

supported if the blanks were either not present at all or filled with "\$0.00." It is inconceivable that the Arbitrator would have specifically indicated prejudgment interest was to be added to the Judgment 1 principal as he did ("Princ. + Prejudg. Int."), CP 995, if prejudgment interest was intended to be \$0.

Proposed Judgment make the Arbitrator's intent to apply prejudgment interest to Judgment 1 clear. The Court's ruling on this issue should be overturned. At best, the Court's findings that "the arbitration award did not provide for these prejudgment interest amounts, nor did the trial court explain how these amounts were calculated" exposes an ambiguity in the Award.¹

Assuming this Court finds that there is an ambiguity as to the Arbitrator's intent, the proper remedy is remand to the Arbitrator to clarify his intent. *See Tolson v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 108 Wn. App. 495, 32 P.3d 289 (2001); *see also Snoqualmie*

¹ Support for calculation of prejudgment interest was addressed in the submissions prior to entry of Judgment. *See* CP 1515.

Police Ass'n v. City of Snoqualmie, 165 Wn. App. 895, 988 (2012). In Washington, public policy "strongly favors the finality or arbitration awards." City of Snoqualmie, 165 Wn. App., at 899. Great deference is afforded to arbitrators, and the arbitrator is "the final judge of both the facts and the law." Id. Where an arbitrator's award could be subjected to more than one interpretation, it is ambiguous. Under Washington law, deference to the arbitrator requires remand wherever the arbitrator's intent is not clear.

We think however, that all of the foregoing cases accept the philosophy that where the parties have elected to submit their disputes to arbitration, they should be completely resolved by arbitration, rather than only partially resolved. In some cases the carrying out of this philosophy will require remanding the matter to the arbitrators.

Id. at 902 (citing Hanford Atomic Metal Trades Council v. General Electric Co., 353 F.2d 302, 308 (9th Cir. 1965) (emphasis in original).

Even in cases where an award is only "latently" ambiguous, as opposed to "patently" ambiguous, remand is the appropriate remedy. "[E]ven if the ambiguity in this award could be classified as latent, we do not believe that Washington law would require such a narrow interpretation of the required remedy." *City of Snoqualmie*, 165 Wn. App., at 907. Further, based on Washington public policy and the strong presumption in favor of deference to arbitrators, there is "no distinction in remedy based on the degree of ambiguity in a particular case." *Id.*

To the extent provisions in an arbitrator's award can be viewed as inconsistent with one another, for example, if the Court were to conclude that references to prejudgment interest in the Proposed Judgment are contradicted by the failure to explicitly reference such interest elsewhere in the body of the award, remand is *still* the required remedy. *See Tolson*, 108 Wn. App., at 499 ("The award excluding damages for memory loss is inconsistent with some of the statements in the arbitrator's

letter, and consistent with others. . . . we reverse the trial court's denial of the motion to vacate and direct the trial court to seek clarification from the arbitrator.").

The Award in this case specifically states that the Proposed Judgment containing references to prejudgment interest "properly reflects this ruling and Award." CP 985. To the extent the Court believes that is incorrect, that would amount to an error of law on the face of the Award requiring remand. See *Tolson*, 108 Wn. App., at 499. To the extent the Arbitrator's intent is ambiguous, once again, remand is the required remedy. See City of Snoqualmie, 165 Wn. App. at 988. To the extent the Court has any doubts whatsoever about what the Arbitrator intended, the proper remedy is to remand to the Arbitrator. Otherwise, the Court is substituting its own judgment for that of the Arbitrator, in contravention of Washington State public policy. The Court's Opinion should be modified to grant appropriate relief and require remand to the Arbitrator on the important question of prejudgment interest, where the parties, the

trial court, and the Court of Appeals all have differing interpretations of the Award.

B. A Receivership Court Has Equitable Authority to Apportion Costs.

The Court held that a receivership court, which is a court of equity, is prohibited from apportioning receivership costs on the party causing the need for a justified receivership. However, such a holding, if maintained, would strip receivership courts of common law powers they have held for over a hundred years.

Washington courts have "broad discretion over receiverships". *Bero v. Name Intelligence, Inc.*, 195 Wn. App. 170, 175, 381 P.3d 71, 74 (2016). Courts have the power "to dispose of the receivership property" and "in the absence of statutory limitations, the receivership court has broad discretion in determining the manner of disposition of receivership property." *Walton v. Severson*, 100 Wn.2d 446, 452, 670 P.2d 639, 642 (1983) (emphasis added) (citing 2 R. Clark, RECEIVERS § 509(a), at 820 (3d ed. 1959) ("A court of chancery is bound by

no strict forms unless prescribed by statute, but looks to the substance of things and strives to best promote the interests of all concerned.")).

The Court's Opinion relies on a misreading, that RCW 7.60.290(5) "specifically limits the court's authority in apportioning costs of the receivership." Clark, No. 83693-5-I, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 697, at *8. However, the quoted text of the statute contains no such limitation, stating only that the costs of receivership *may* be assessed as a sanction against a person who wrongfully procures a receivership. As the language makes clear, the statute is permissive, and therefore does not "specifically limit" anything. It simply clarifies a power that already exists, and provides that procedurally, a party may allege wrongful receivership at the time of termination of the receivership and may be entitled to a sanction if such wrongful intent can be proved. See RCW 7.60.290(5). Such a sanction is independent of a court's equitable authority to apportion fees as it sees fit.

Umpqua Bank v. Shasta Apts., LLC, 194 Wn. App. 685, 695 (2016), cited in the Opinion, fully supports Petitioners' position. In Umpqua, the Court cited to the Legislature's stated intent that the receivership statute provides procedures "applicable to proceedings in which property of a person is administered by the courts of this state for the benefit of creditors." Id. Thus, Umpqua makes clear that the receivership statute presupposes the Court's equitable authority to impose and administer receiverships—it does not create that power.

The petitioner in *Umpqua* argued that because the receivership statute did not specifically entitle a secured creditor to a deficiency judgment, such a judgment was impermissible, pointing to chapter 7.60 RCW's "silence on the issue of a deficiency judgment." *Id.* at 693. The Umpqua Court disagreed, holding that "the plain language of the Receivership Statute does not expressly permit or preclude a secured creditor. . . from pursuing a deficiency judgment." *Id.* at 695. Citing to the Legislature's intent, the Court held that "if the legislature had

wanted to preclude a deficiency judgment after a receiver's sale under the Receivership Statute, it would have included that language in the statute." *Id.* At 696.

The erroneous arguments and reasoning by the petitioner in *Umpqua* are analogous to those made by the Respondents and relied upon by the Court of Appeals. Here, the Court of Appeals reasoned that because the receivership statute does not expressly grant the receivership court the authority to apportion fees, the Legislature must have intended to preclude such apportionment. However, cases citing the principal that "Legislative inclusion of certain items in a category implies that other items in that category are intended to be excluded" are not on point. See Clark, No. 83693-5-I, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 697, at *7. These cases (including Landmark Dev. Inc. v. City of Roy, 138 Wn.2d 571 (1999); Wash. Nat. Gas Co. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1, 77 Wn.2d 94, 98, 459 P.2d 633 (1969)) as well as the cases cited therein for the same principle, all involve powers arising from statutes. But a receivership court's equitable powers arise from equity and the

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