FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/28/2023 4:34 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON CASE NO. 1022328

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 83693-5-I

APOLLONIA KWAN, et al.,

Petitioners,

V.

ALAN B. CLARK, et al.

Respondents.

CLARK RESPONDENTS' ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR FURTHER REVIEW OF COURT'S UNPUBLISHED APRIL 10, 2023 OPINION

Scott B. Henrie, WSBA #12673 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101

Telephone: (206) 628-6600

Email: shenrie@williamskastner.com

Counsel for Clark Respondents

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

Petitioners not only added footnotes to the form of judgment with the missing dates necessary to compute interest, they also improperly *selected* the amounts of the award on

which prejudgment interest was to run. In doing so, Petitioners chose the entire net principal balance of the award without considering a \$597,666 setoff due to the Clark Respondents.

CP 984 and CP 988. Petitioners also elected to award prejudgment interest to themselves on the entire net principal amounts in the Award even though the net sums incorporated amounts the Arbitrator had specifically ruled were not subject to prejudgment interest. None of Petitioners' additions—additions that are inherent and necessary in any award of

⁵ The judgment entered by the trial court awarded prejudgment interest on the total net principal amount awarded to Petitioners, even though that net principal amount included millions of dollars the Arbitrator specifically excluded from any award of prejudgment interest. The excluded amounts incorporated into the net principal judgment amount include \$700,000 owed by Clark to Mountlake Village and \$1.2 million owed by respondent Kwan to First Hill Properties. CP 983- 984. Moreover, a \$597,666 offset owed to Clark was not set off against the principal judgment sum. CP 984 and CP 988. In the case of an earlier judgment on a loan, CP 970-971, the Petitioners awarded themselves prejudgment interest on top of prejudgment interest that had already accrued on the earlier judgment and provided for that compounded interest to accrue for an even longer time frame. CP 987, Note 1, red font.

prejudgment interest—appear anywhere in the form of proposed judgment that the Arbitrator viewed as a reflection of his award. They appear only in the form of judgment that Petitioners modified and then presented for entry to the trial court.⁶ Compare CP 995 to CP 1521.

Petitioners make a last attempt to buttress their claim by arguing that statements by the Arbitrator—that no prejudgment interest was to be awarded as to some specific sums—must mean the negative inference that the Arbitrator was silently awarding prejudgment interest. Petitioners' conclusion is belied by the fact that the Arbitrator was perfectly able to award prejudgment interest and did affirmatively and explicitly award prejudgment interest when he intended to do so. CP 984 and compare CP 995 to CP 996. When the Arbitrator intended to

_

⁶ Petitioners were likely aided in gaining entry of this reformed form of judgment by the Receiver's termination of special litigation counsel. An event that occurred in the month prior to Petitioners' presentation of the modified proposed judgment to the court for entry as the final judgment. CP 1463-64.

award prejudgment interest, he explicitly did so, not by silence and not by using unfilled blank spaces on a proposed form he did not draft.

In none of the cases cited by Petitioners did the court remand an arbitration award to allow an arbitrator to make additional findings of fact necessary to award, define, and support a missing element of damages. None of the cases involve a proposed form of judgment drafted by the respondents themselves and then altered before the final presentation for entry by the court. Rather, in *Snoqualmie* Police Ass'n v. City of Snoqualmie, 165 Wn. App. 895, 273 P.3d 983 (2012), the court held that the award to "make him whole" was ambiguous "[b]ecause there is more than one reasonable way to read this award to accomplish that objective. ..." *Id.* at 898-899. And as the court explained in *Tolson v*. Allstate Insurance Co, "[t]he letter could be read in at least two ways, and it was not clear from the letter's plain language which of the two possible readings was correct." Snoqualmie

Police Ass'n, 165 Wn. App. at 900, citing Tolson v. Allstate
Insurance Co., 108 Wash.App. 495, 498, 32 P.3d 289 (2001).
Similarly, in Hanford Atomic Metal Trades Council v. General
Electric Co. 353 F.2d 302 (9th Cir. 1965) the district court
found that the award was susceptible to two different
interpretations.

Unlike the cases relied on by Respondents, a remand here would not be about the Arbitrator *clarifying* his meaning in making a choice of words, but whether the Arbitrator should reopen the arbitration proceeding to make the *additional* findings and legal conclusions necessary to support an award of prejudgment interest. Only after making additional findings, could the Arbitrator fill in the blanks Petitioner's contend are ambiguous.

The blanks in the form cannot be read two ways where factual findings are missing from the Award that would need to exist to support Petitioners' claimed interpretation. The absence of these findings, controlling legal precedent, and the public

policy of finality compels this Court to decline the invitation to remand the case back to arbitration based on Petitioners' speculation about whether the Arbitrator intended to fill in a blank space in a form drafted by Petitioners.

This is especially true where the lack of necessary findings on dates and specific amounts leaves no real question of the Arbitrator's intention, especially when compared to his explicit award on the same issue of prejudgment interest with respect to Judgment No. 2, CP 995-996, on the same form. In Judgment No. 2 the award is explicit, in the arbitration award itself, in the supporting schedules, and in the filled blanks in the form the Arbitrator believed reflected his rulings. CP 984, para. 3, in the attached tables, CP 991, and in the proposed form of judgment. CP 996. But not Judgment No. 1. CP 995.

Speculation about whether missing information might fill in blanks on a form drafted by Petitioners does not justify reopening the Arbitration Award to make additional required findings and conclusions. As the court observed in *Snoqualmie*

Police Ass'n, "[p]ublic policy in Washington strongly favors the finality of arbitration awards," and great deference is afforded to the arbitrator. Snoqualmie Police Ass'n, 165 Wn. App. at 899–904. "Therefore, the arbitrator is the final judge of both the facts and the law, and mistakes in either respect are not reviewable." Id.

Here, there is no award of prejudgment interest in the Arbitration Award and there are none of the necessary factual findings that would allow for its calculation. In such circumstances, well established Supreme Court case law dictates the result. In *Elcon*, the Washington Supreme Court did not remand the issue to the arbitrator. It ruled that a trial court has no basis for adding prejudgment interest to an arbitration award and ended the dispute. *Elcon*, 174 Wn.2d at 170–71. The same conclusion is compelled here, and so is the same result.

IV. THE COURT'S CONSTRUCTION OF RCW 7.60.290(5) IS CORRECT

Petitioners contend that the Court of Appeal's construction of RCW 7.60.290(5) is incorrect and argue that the Court's reliance on *Umpqua Bank v. Shasta Apts.*, *LLC*, 194 Wn. App. 685 (2016), *Landmark Dev. Inc. v. City of Roy*, 138 Wn.2d 571 (1999); and *Wash. Nat. Gas Co. v. Pub. Util. Dist.* No. 1, 77 Wn.2d 94 (1969), is misplaced and in error. Petitioners argue essentially that the language of the statute is entirely redundant surplusage as a receivership court already has the power to do whatever it wishes irrespective of and with or without reference to RCW Chapter 7.60. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected this argument.

A. The Unpublished Construction of RCW 7.60.290(5) Narrowly Applies, Presents No Conflicts, and Meets No Substantial Public Interest

Respondents fail to meet the substantial public interest requirement on the statutory construction issue. The opinion is unpublished and is not binding on any other court. In the second place, there are no other grounds for Supreme Court

review because the opinion is the first court to have offered any construction of RCW 7.60.290(5). Thus, the decision is not in conflict with any other published decision by any other Washington court. No constitutional issues are involved or even argued.

Rather, Respondents argue that the Court of Appeals interpretation of RCW 7.60.290(5) is unsupported by law or statute and circumscribes a receivership court's authority to manage a receivership. But the opinion does not do any such thing. It does not broadly prohibit a trial court from apportioning receivership costs, as Petitioners contend, and it certainly does not strip from other Washington courts, common law powers over a receivership, they have held for over a hundred years. Notably there is not a single citation to Washington legal authority in support of this proposition because no Washington court has ever ruled as Petitioner's contend. The lack of authority is deafening.

Not only is the Court of Appeal's decision unpublished, but its interpretation of RCW 7.60.290(5) narrowly applies to the situation where the trial court summarily checked a box on a form to impose a sanction without ever conducting any hearing to apportion receivership costs. CP 1527. In place of a hearing and an exercise of its own discretion, the trial court merely checked a box indicating its adoption of the arbitrator's "suggestion." CP 1527. By doing so, the lower court blankly imposed a penalty that included all the costs of the receivership, without specification or amount and included even those unknown expenses yet to be incurred by the receiver in the future without limitation. (Even the receivership expenses incurred during a successful appeal). This adoption of the Arbitrators "suggestion" occurred even though the Arbitrator had ruled that the issue was outside the scope of the arbitration

agreement, beyond his jurisdiction, and was an issue reserved for the court.⁷

The Court of Appeals did not preclude equitable apportionment, as Petitioners contend, rather the case was remanded so that such apportionment could take place rather than the wholesale imposition onto Respondents of all past and future receivership costs. The Court of Appeal correctly ruled that the legislature allowed such a sanction, as the trial court improperly imposed on Respondents, in only one instance, and that instance explicitly and undeniably did not exist here because the Respondents were not petitioners seeking to impose the receivership on other parties.

_

⁷ "[T]he Arbitrator concludes that he does not have the authority to make the legal determination as to whether such a reallocation may be made under the applicable statutes or caselaw and refers this issue to the Receivership court for determination. Accordingly, the priority of payment out of the receivership estate may be affected or determined by any reallocation of these fees and costs to the Clarks." CP 1150.

Petitioners' argument depends entirely on the claim that RCW 7.60.290(5) is meaningless, adds nothing to the law and is a statute that may be ignored by the courts. Such conclusions are inconsistent with all the rules of statutory construction. In comparison, the Court of Appeals applied well considered and long-established rules of construction in stating:

"[W]e generally decline to read into the statute what is not there." *Umpqua Bank*, 194 Wn. App. at 693-94. We do not include words where the legislature chose not to and we construe the statute assuming the legislature meant exactly what it said. Birgen, 186 Wn. App. at 858. "Legislative inclusion of certain items in a category implies that other items in that category are intended to be excluded." Landmark Dev., Inc. v. City of Roy, 138 Wn.2d 561, 571, 980 P.2d 1234 (1999) (quoting Bour v. Johnson, 122 Wn.2d 829, 836, 864 P.2d 380 (1993)). "Where a statute specifically designates the things or classes of things upon which it operates, an inference arises in law that all things or classes of things omitted from it were intentionally omitted by the legislature under the maxim expressio unius est exclusio alterius specific inclusions exclude implication." Landmark Dev., Inc., 138 Wn. 2d at 571 (quoting Wash. Nat. Gas Co. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1, 77 Wn. 2d 94, 98, 459 P.2d 633 (1969)).

The Court of Appeals simply and correctly rejected Petitioners contention that a lower court has equitable authority to ignore the Receivership statute and award receivership expenses as a penalty outside the sole circumstance specifically articulated by the legislature for the imposition of such a sanction:

The Kwan group procured the receiver's appointment, not the Clarks. It therefore follows that the Clarks, as the defendants in the action, could not procure the receivership wrongfully or in bad faith. RCW 7.60.290 is unambiguous. The legislature determined that full costs of the receivership may be imposed on one party if the receivership was procured wrongfully or in bad faith. Because the Clarks did not procure appointment of the receiver, the trial court erred in apportioning the cost of the receiver against the Clarks. We remand to strike the court's apportionment of receivership costs.

Petitioners argue that the statute "simply clarifies a power that already exists, and provides that procedurally, a party may allege wrongful receivership at the time of termination of the receivership and may be entitled to a sanction if such wrongful intent can be proved. *See* RCW 7.60.290(5). But Petitioners' argument would render the statute an

unnecessary nullity. It is not true that a receivership court may award such a penalty against any party to the receivership proceeding, in anyway it sees fit. Nor is there any authority for the imposition of such sanctions, other than the sole and inapplicable basis for such a sanction articulated in RCW 7.60.290(5).

Demonstrating that the factual circumstances here are exceedingly narrow, no other court has had the occasion to rule on this issue and the decision here does not conflict with what Petitioners claim is made clear in *Umpqua Bank*, that the receivership statute presupposes the Court's equitable authority to impose and administer receiverships.

Petitioners argue further that the Court of Appeal's decision could be used by debtors in receivership to contest *any* administrative action taken by a receivership court that is not expressly authorized under the statute. But such an argument is actually the outcome of Petitioners argument that the

Receivership statute is merely advisory, has no meaning and may be ignored.

Ultimately, Petitioners argue that out-of-state caselaw, from California, explicitly holds that receivership courts may apportion fees between parties in receivership. This adds nothing to their petition for further review. None of the out of state authorities involve an interpretation of RCW 7.60.290(5). No other state cited has a similar statute.

But even if they did, no one is contending that the receivership court does not have broad equitable power to equitably apportion receivership expenses between the parties. Equitably apportionment is not what the court did below.

Rather it checked a box and imposed a penalty contrary to RCW 7.60.290(5). There is not any record of equitable apportionment because the trial court did not make any findings on apportionment. It didn't even conduct a hearing. It merely checked the box on presentation of the judgment, and in doing so, the lower court imposed a penalty based on an arbitrator's

recommendation who did not even have jurisdiction to decide the issue.

V. CONCLUSION

Petitioners do not meet the RAP 13.4 (b) requirements for further review. The Court of Appeals reversal of the trial courts award of prejudgment interest, where there was no such award in the Arbitration Award, is in strict conformity with Supreme Court precedent in *Elcon Const., Inc. v. E.*Washington Univ., 174 Wn.2d 157, 170–, 273 P.3d 965 (2012).

The Court of Appeals' decision rejecting the trial court's wholesale imposition of all past and future receivership expenses onto Respondents involves the first construction by any court of the sanction provided by RCW 7.60.290(5). Thus, there is no conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or any published decision of the Court of Appeals. No significant question of law is presented under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States. Nor does the unpublished petition involve an issue of substantial public

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Rather, the decision is narrow and based on an extreme (and continuing) sanction premised on a recommendation by an arbitrator who expressly recognized that such a sanction was beyond his jurisdiction and in excess of the scope of the arbitration agreement. The Court of Appeals' remand to the trial court to conduct an equitable apportionment of the receivership's cost and expenses was a proper result that in no way implicates the claims argued by Petitioners.

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